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Prologue





WE CAN VIEW World War II from many angles, military to moral. Many fine books have been written about the struggle — perhaps the most famous being Winston Churchill’s The Second World War, in six volumes, which helped the former British prime minister to win the Nobel Prize in Literature.


The Mantle of Command: FDR at War is my attempt to retell the story of the military direction of the Second World War from a different perspective: that of President Franklin Delano Roosevelt, in his role as U.S. commander in chief.




 





Following Pearl Harbor there were many calls for Roosevelt to hand over direction of America’s world war to a military man: a professional like General Douglas MacArthur, the former U.S. Army chief of staff, who was serving in the Philippines. FDR rejected such calls — arguing that, as U.S. president, he was the U.S. commander in chief, and the Constitution made him so. As Alexander Hamilton had written in Federalist No. 74, the President of the United States was to have “the supreme command and direction of the military and naval forces, as first general and admiral” of the nation. This Roosevelt was, whether people liked it or not. “What is clearer than that the framers meant the President to be the chief executive in peace,” he said to his doctor, Ross McIntire, “and in war the commander in chief?”1


Nevertheless, the military challenges facing Roosevelt as commander in chief were greater than any that had confronted his predecessors: America assailed by a coalition of three twentieth-century military empires — Hitler’s Third Reich, Mussolini’s Italian Empire, and Hirohito’s Empire of Japan — seeking, in a Tripartite Pact, to remake the modern world in their own image. To this end they had revolutionized warfare: Nazi Blitzkrieg in Europe, and dazzling, ruthless amphibious invasions in the Far East by the Japanese.


How Roosevelt responded to those challenges as his nation’s military commander is thus the burden of my new account. It is a story that, astonishingly, has never really been chronicled. Roosevelt himself did not live to tell it, as he had hoped he would, in retirement;2 Churchill, surviving the war, did, in incomparable prose — but very much from his own point of view.


Succeeding generations of writers and historians have certainly addressed Roosevelt’s career, but primarily as statesman and politician rather than as commander in chief. As far as the military direction of the war was concerned, such writers tended to ignore or downplay the President’s role, focusing instead on Allied global strategy or on Roosevelt’s subordinates and field commanders: General Marshall, Admiral King, General Arnold, Admiral Nimitz, General MacArthur, General Eisenhower, General Patton, General Bradley, and other World War II warriors.3 As a result, the popular image of President Roosevelt has become one of a great and august moral leader of his nation: an inspiring figure on a world stage, but one who largely delegated the “business of war” to others — including Winston Churchill.


General George C. Marshall, for example, once remarked to the chief of staff of the British Army, General Alan Brooke, that Brooke was lucky to see the Prime Minister almost every day in London; in Washington, by contrast, Marshall — who was chief of staff of the U.S. Army — often did not see the President “for a month or six weeks.”4


Marshall was exaggerating; moreover, he was expressing a very different frustration from the one the majority of writers have taken him to mean. Marshall was, in reality, complaining that President Roosevelt was making all the major military decisions at the White House, rather than allowing Marshall to make them at the War Department — and worse still, not allowing his U.S. Army chief of staff to contest them, or give advice, unless by appointment with the President.


This was a deliberate stratagem, as I hope The Mantle of Command will demonstrate. Deference to the military by political leaders in World War I had permitted the senseless battles of attrition on the Western Front. For this reason the President was unwilling to delegate something as important as world war to “professionals.” Keeping General Marshall and Admiral Ernest King as separate though equal supplicants, the President intentionally sought to assert his ultimate authority as commander in chief: a power he kept strictly within the parameters of the U.S. Constitution, but which brooked no real opposition to his wishes or decisions — until the fateful day in 1942 when his military officials attempted a quasi mutiny, which is the centerpiece of this book.




 





The story of how America’s commander in chief conducted World War II in the aftermath of Pearl Harbor, then, is almost the polar opposite of what we have been led, for the most part, to believe.5 It is also more freighted, since the stakes for America and the free world in 1942 were perhaps the most serious in global history.


Tracing afresh how Roosevelt dealt with the military challenges he faced as commander in chief following the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor allows us to see him in perhaps his greatest hour — setting and maintaining the moral agenda of the United Nations (as he christened the Allied powers), while slowly but surely turning defeat into relentless victory. His handling of General MacArthur and the manner in which he kept the Filipino forces fighting as allies of an embattled America, rather than giving in to the Japanese, was but one of his extraordinary achievements of the succeeding months as, swatting the persistent machinations and rumblings of near treason in the U.S. War Department, Roosevelt finally overruled his subordinates and, ordering into battle the largest American amphibious invasion force in the nation’s history, his legions set out from shores three thousand miles apart to turn the tide of war against Hitler — astonishing the world, as they did so, and giving rise to the slogan that would hearten millions across Europe: “The Americans are coming!”




 





Side by side with this perspective, The Mantle of Command seeks to tell another story that has been largely downplayed or obscured in the decades since World War II: namely the collapse of the British Empire in the weeks and months after Pearl Harbor.


As prime minister of Great Britain, Winston S. Churchill had become an emblem of his island country’s noble resistance to Nazi tyranny in 1940 and 1941 — so much so that writers and historians, following in the literary footsteps of Churchill’s own multivolume account, have tended to overlook his often suspect leadership thereafter. In particular, Churchill’s imperialist obsession over India, and the crisis this led to in his military relations with President Roosevelt in the spring of 1942, have been largely ignored in terms of their significance.




 





A third perspective that I feel has been neglected or underappreciated in relation to Franklin Delano Roosevelt was his modus operandi in the White House — and the consequences this has had for the writing of history. Paralyzed from the waist down after contracting polio in 1921, the President led a very different life from that of the British war leader. Winston Churchill was from childhood a romantic historian and journalist who loved to travel and put everything he thought or witnessed on paper — indeed, he made his living, his entire life, primarily by his writing. He also loved speechifying, holding forth with inimitable turns of phrase and perception to gatherings small and large. As his own doctor observed, he was not a good listener — and many of his worst mistakes as his nation’s war leader stemmed from this.


Franklin Roosevelt, by contrast, was a very good listener. Though he could, as his mother’s only child, be perfectly content on his own, reading or pasting items into his beloved stamp albums, Roosevelt also loved getting to know people, and enjoyed true conversation. He had earlier edited his university’s newspaper; as a politician in a democracy made vibrant by an unfettered press and deeply partisan Congress, however, he came to distrust paper save as annotated records to be kept locked in his “‘Safe’ and Confidential Files” in his eventual presidential library at Hyde Park on the Hudson. These were the documents he thought he would eventually employ to reconstruct, once the war was over, the greatest drama of his life: his struggle to impose a moral, postimperial vision on his coalition wartime partners, and how he had been compelled by circumstances to supplant the United Kingdom as guardian of the world’s democracies.


The President did not live to write that work. Reassembling from surviving documents his role as commander in chief seventy years later is thus considerably harder than it has been for writers seeking to portray and chronicle Churchill as wartime British prime minister. Piecing together the evidence not only from archival records but authentic wartime diaries, as well as the testimony of President Roosevelt’s last surviving Map Room officer, I hope nevertheless that I’ve been able to restore for the reader something of the drama, the issues, and the confrontations Roosevelt faced, as well as the historic decisions he had to make as commander in chief in the aftermath of Pearl Harbor.




• • •





From the vantage point of Roosevelt’s Oval Study, Oval Office, and his ground-floor Map Room at the White House, as well as his mansion at Hyde Park and Shangri-la (his presidential retreat, or camp, in the Maryland hills), the true story of FDR’s conduct of the war bears little semblance to the picture Winston Churchill was at pains to chart in later years. Nor was it always perceived by outsiders, who found themselves charmed by Franklin Roosevelt’s easy manner, and were not witnesses to the Commander in Chief’s iron glove. General “Vinegar Joe” Stilwell, for example, had “retained the family’s Republicanism and joined naturally in the exhilarating exercise of Roosevelt-hating” for his New Deal policies, in the words of his biographer; the general’s contempt for the President got no better once war began. As Stilwell sniffed in his diary, Roosevelt was a “rank amateur in all military matters,”6 and “completely hypnotized by the British,” who had “his ear, while we have the hind tit.”7 Churchill’s right-hand military man, Field Marshal Sir Alan Brooke, reflected in later years that, in contrast to his own master, the “President had no military knowledge and was aware of this fact and consequently relied on Marshall and listened to Marshall’s advice.”8


How little Sir Alan Brooke, as a British officer, knew! Churchill did, however — especially once his beloved British Empire began to collapse. It was not for nothing that the Prime Minister, waving goodbye to the President’s plane some weeks after the successful American landings in Northwest Africa which turned the tide of World War II, remarked to the U.S. vice consul in Marrakesh: “If anything happened to that man, I couldn’t stand it. He is the truest friend; he has the furthest vision; he is the greatest man I have ever known.”9




 





The Mantle of Command, then, focuses for the first time on Roosevelt’s military odyssey in the aftermath of Pearl Harbor — the personal, strategic, staffing, and command decisions he was called upon to make, in the context of the challenges he faced. In the interests of brevity I have focused on fourteen episodes, beginning with the President’s historic meeting with Prime Minister Churchill on August 9, 1941, aboard their battleships in Placentia Bay, off the coast of Newfoundland, and ending with the first major landing of American troops on the threshold of Europe, in North Africa in late 1942. This time frame reveals Roosevelt’s evolution from noncombatant supporter of Churchill, to become the master of the Allied effort, a commander in chief who took control of the war not only from his ally but from his own generals.


How accurately President Roosevelt read the demented mind of the Nazi führer; how, after ensuring U.S. naval victory in the Pacific, he turned his attention back toward Europe; how he overruled his generals and insisted upon American landings in French Northwest Africa in 1942, rather than a suicidal “Second Front” assault on the coast of mainland France — these marked a remarkable reversal of fortune for the Allies, and testify to Roosevelt’s extraordinary military leadership: the saga reaching its climax as he sent into battle the massive American air, army, and naval forces that, on November 8, 1942, stunned Hitler and changed the course of World War II.


The tough challenges that came thereafter are the subject of another book. In the meantime, though, I hope these fourteen episodes will allow us to better understand the global test that Franklin Roosevelt faced as his country’s military leader in the months following America’s terrible defeat in Hawaii — and perhaps better appreciate the wisdom of Churchill’s valedictory remark, seven decades ago.
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Placentia Bay
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Before the Storm





THE “PLAN OF ESCAPE,” as Roosevelt called it, was simple. It was also deceitful — the sort of adventure that the President, confined to the White House by the burden of his responsibilities as well as his wheelchair, loved. He would pretend to go on a fishing trip on his 165-foot presidential yacht, the USS Potomac, similar to the vacation he had taken earlier in the spring. In reality he would secretly transfer from the “floating White House” to an American battleship or cruiser lying off the New England coast, then race up to Canadian waters to meet with the embattled British prime minister, Mr. Winston Churchill: the man who for more than a year had been leading his country in a lonely struggle against the Third Reich, following the fall of France and most of Europe.


FDR had suggested such a meeting several times since January 1941, when his emissary, Harry Hopkins, first put the idea to Churchill on a visit to London. The purpose was, according to Roosevelt’s own account (which he dictated for the historical record and a magazine article — one that, sadly, he never completed), “to talk over the problem of the defeat of Germany.”1


The proposed date “mentioned at that time,” the President stated in his narrative, was to be “March or April” of that spring. However, the tortuous passage of the vast Lend-Lease bill through Congress and other important legislation made it impossible for him to leave Washington before the early summer, “and by that time the war in Greece — and later the war in Crete — prevented Churchill,” Roosevelt explained. “The trip was mentioned again in May and June,” the President narrated — but talk of such a meeting was overshadowed by a more momentous event than Hitler’s predations in the Mediterranean. For on June 22, 1941, the German invasion of Russia began — Hitler launching several million mobilized German troops in a do-or-die effort to smash the Soviet Union before turning back to the problematic invasion of England.2


And — the U.S. secretary of war, Colonel Henry Stimson, feared — eventual war with the United States.3




 





Three weeks later a date for the Anglo-American summit “was finally decided”; it would take place, the President and Prime Minister concurred, in a mutually agreed upon location between August 8 and 10, 1941.4 The initial site chosen was the British island of Bermuda. Canada, though, considered by the President to be safer, met with final approval by both leaders.


An official U.S. presidential visit to the capital city of Ottawa was mooted as cover for the meeting, with a secret side trip to the coast allowing Roosevelt to meet Churchill on his arrival. A problem was foreseen, however, in other British Dominion premiers asking to join the powwow. Such a gathering would have raised all sorts of political questions back in Washington, where a suspicious, isolationist Congress would have had to be informed — and involved.


It had thus been decided that only the President and Mr. Churchill would meet, aboard their anchored battleships — preferably in a protected sixty-mile-wide gulf off the Newfoundland coast called Placentia Bay, named for a French naval station that had existed there before the British conquest. Though the waters were Canadian, the naval station at Argentia had been ceded to the United States for ninety-nine years as a quid pro quo in the previous year’s “destroyers for bases” deal to help Britain fight the Nazis. Following its acquisition it had been expanded to provide U.S. Army Air Force protection, and was already handling U.S. Navy minesweepers. Shore-based communications could also be provided, if required. From the President’s perspective, however, it would above all be an American venue — putting the Prime Minister at a disadvantage, in the same way that visitors to Louis XIV were made to climb a thousand steps at Versailles before meeting the French monarch.




 





“Escape,” for the President, meant, of course, from something, namely the American press: mainstay of the nation’s vigilant democracy, but also a millstone in terms of executive privacy and confidentiality — and security. If word of the prospective meeting leaked, it would endanger not only the President’s life but the Prime Minister’s as well, drawing German U-boats in the North Atlantic to the area.


More threatening to Roosevelt’s presidential authority in a time of continuing isolationism, though, would be the fierce debate aroused across America about the purpose of such a meeting. The majority of the American public (as expressed in opinion polls, which Roosevelt watched carefully)5 remained resolutely opposed to being drawn into the war raging in Europe. At the height of the previous year’s election campaign, the President had given his “most solemn assurance” that there was “no secret treaty, no secret obligation, no secret commitment, no secret understanding in any shape or form, direct or indirect, with any other Government, to involve this nation in any war or for any other purpose.”6 In the summer of 1941 there were still isolationists aplenty — encouraged by Hitler’s turn to the east — watching to see that the President kept his word. Only Congress could declare war — or alter the terms of the November 1939 Neutrality Act.7 For the President to end or breach American neutrality without congressional backing would risk his impeachment.


It was for personal reasons as well that the President was anxious to keep away the press and other voyeurs. He wanted the meeting to be intimate: an opportunity to finally get to know in person the British prime minister, with whom he had begun secretly corresponding in 1939, when Hitler invaded Poland and Churchill was made First Lord of the Admiralty. Once Churchill had become prime minister in May 1940, the President had continued to bypass his own U.S. ambassador to London, the nefarious appeaser and isolationist Joseph P. Kennedy, and the communications between Roosevelt and Churchill had become more and more grave, as the President first agreed to provide American mothballed warships to the British, then brokered through Congress the vast Lend-Lease deal to provide munitions, aircraft, and weapons on credit. Instead of being grateful, however, the Prime Minister kept asking for more — indeed, to the President’s irritation, Churchill had recently told Roosevelt’s emissary in London, Harry Hopkins, that he would be bringing all his military chiefs with him to the Placentia Bay summit. The President therefore had no option but, on Hopkins’s advice, to take with him his own service chiefs: stern General George Marshall, chief of staff of the U.S. Army; bluff but more junior Major General Henry “Hap” Arnold, chief of the U.S. Army Air Forces (the Army Air Corps and GHQ Air Force, which was still a division of the U.S. Army);8 and Admiral Harold R. “Betty” Stark, quiet, bespectacled chief of naval operations. As commander of the Atlantic Fleet, responsible for the small presidential contingent’s safe naval passage to Newfoundland, the irascible and somewhat anti-British Admiral Ernest “Ernie” King would be a party to the summit, too.


On a very hot August 3, 1941, Roosevelt left Washington by train. That evening he embarked on the presidential yacht (which had a crew of fifty-four) at New London’s submarine base, in Connecticut — unaccompanied by the three Associated Press journalists who typically followed Roosevelt in a separate vessel on other such “fishing trips.”


The USS Potomac motored north, anchoring that night off Martha’s Vineyard, across the water from Cape Cod. At dawn the next morning Roosevelt secretly sped away by launch from the two-deck, 376-ton motor yacht, leaving a group of U.S. Secret Service stand-ins to impersonate him and his private guests when it continued its stately way up the Cape Cod Canal. From the shore the white vessel would be (and was) seen and waved to by peacetime summer holidaymakers. In truth the U.S. commander in chief was by then aboard the flagship of Admiral King’s Atlantic Fleet, the USS Augusta: a ninety-two-hundred-ton, six-hundred-feet-long Northampton Class heavy cruiser, manned by more than a thousand sailors and armed with nine eight-inch guns, eight five-inch guns, and six torpedo tubes, lurking off Martha’s Vineyard.


Admiral Stark and General Marshall were already onboard when the President arrived. A handful of other members of the presidential party, including General Arnold, had embarked on an accompanying heavy cruiser, the New Orleans–class USS Tuscaloosa. Escorted by four new American destroyers, the VIPs then sailed north toward a summit that, the officers finally became aware, promised to make history.


Speeding at times at thirty-two knots, the American presidential party raced through patchy fog to reach the Newfoundland rendezvous ahead of time. Roosevelt had not even told his secretary of war, Colonel Stimson, about the conference, nor his secretary of the navy, Mr. Frank Knox — nor even his secretary of state, Mr. Cordell Hull, who was on medical leave. The President had not even told his secretary, Grace Tully! He had only informed General Marshall and Admiral Stark three days before departure — with orders that General Arnold, the air force commander, be invited to attend but not informed of the purpose or destination of the voyage before embarking on the USS Tuscaloosa. There was to be no fraternization, or planning, before the meeting: nothing that could later be denounced as preparatory to a secret agreement or alliance.


By contrast, Prime Minister Winston Churchill had great plans for just such an affiliation.




 





Buoyed by excitement and hope, Winston Spencer Churchill — son, after all, of an American mother — had ordered his chiefs of staff to draw up a “Future Strategy Paper,” setting out how Britain could win the war if the United States became an ally. He had also proudly sent secret signals to the prime ministers of all the Dominions of the British Empire to let them know of the impending conference — stating that, although none of them had been invited, he “hoped that from the meeting some momentous agreement might be reached.”9 Setting off “with a retinue which Cardinal Wolsey might have envied” (as his private secretary sarcastically noted in his diary),10 the Prime Minister had even written in excitement to Queen Elizabeth, consort of the monarch, to tell her of his great expectations.


“I must say, I do not think our friend would have asked me to go so far, for what must be a meeting of world notice, unless he had in mind some further forward step,” Churchill confided, explaining why he was leaving his country at such a critical time.11 He had ordered grouse and rare turtle soup as among the provisions he would take, as well as a full military band. He would travel aboard his latest radar-equipped forty-three-thousand-ton battleship, HMS Prince of Wales. As he had presumptuously signaled to the President from Scapa Flow, Scotland, on August 4, 1941: “We are just off. It is twenty-seven years ago today that Huns began their last war. We must make a good job of it this time. Twice ought to be good enough.”12




 





Churchill’s hope that the President was about to declare war on Nazi Germany, or was going to promise to solicit the backing of the U.S. Congress for such a declaration, or was perhaps willing to engineer a casus belli (as Churchill himself had been accused of doing in 1915, over munitions he had ordered to be taken aboard the ill-fated non-military passenger liner, the SS Lusitania), was understandable, but completely erroneous. Roosevelt had no intention whatsoever of entering hostilities in Europe to save the British Empire — especially its colonial empire. Instead, he wished merely to get the measure of the British arch-imperialist — and see if he might bend him to a different purpose.


Poor Churchill, who rested up on the voyage and barely interacted with his own chiefs of staff, had no idea what was coming. Nor, ironically, did the U.S. chiefs of staff, who were not told the object of the meeting, or their roles, beyond that of advising the President.


Roosevelt genuinely respected his chiefs of staff as spokesmen of the armed services they directed, but the truth was, he had as yet little or no faith in their military, let alone their political, judgment. Almost everything they and their war departments had forecast or recommended to him as commander in chief since May 1941 had turned out wrong.13 The “preparations” that the War Department had reported for a German drive through Spain and Northwest Africa to Dakar, prior to an anticipated assault on South America,14 had proven but a ruse. Instead, the Führer had invaded the Soviet Union, on June 22, with more than three million troops, thirty-six hundred tanks, and six hundred thousand vehicles, supported by twenty-five hundred aircraft.


Far from conquering Russia in a matter of weeks, however, as forecast both by the secretary of war, the U.S. War Department,15 and the U.S. military attaché in Moscow,16 the vast 180-division German Wehrmacht and Luftwaffe forces sent into battle looked by early August as if they were meeting stiff resistance in the Soviet Union.17 Moreover, far from abandoning their hold on the Middle East — as American military observers were still advising the British to do, but the President was not18 — the British were holding General Erwin Rommel at bay in North Africa. British forces, in fact, had successfully driven into Iraq and Syria to deter Vichy French assistance to Hitler. As a result, neither Turkey nor Portugal, nor Spain, had moved a finger to help Hitler.19 Even Marshal Pétain’s egregious puppet government in Vichy had refused to alter the terms of its 1940 surrender to Hitler and permit French military cooperation with the Nazis. Hitler, the President was convinced, was not going to have things his own way.


It was not only the predictions of the U.S. War Department that were wrong, the President felt. The advice given by the U.S. Navy Department had seemed to him, as a former assistant secretary of the navy, to be strategically unsound — as well as psychologically naïve. The chief of naval operations and his director of plans favored a one-ocean navy operating solely in the Atlantic, with U.S. forces in the Philippines and Pacific Islands left to defend themselves against potential Japanese attack.20 By contrast, the President had been determined to bluff both Hitler and the Japanese emperor, Hirohito, by keeping one U.S. fleet in the Pacific to deter Japan — still embroiled in a vicious land war on the Chinese mainland — from new conquests, while using the other U.S. fleet in the Atlantic to assert its naval authority over the waters of the Western Hemisphere. Hitler, the President was certain, had his hands full in Russia, and would not dare declare war on the United States as long as the U.S. was seen to be strong. In the meantime, moreover, the President would do his best to cajole Congress into expansion of the U.S. Armed Forces, to be ready for war once it came — as, inevitably, he was sure it must.


Roosevelt’s firm belief about Russian resistance — backed by advice from old Russia hands like Joseph Davies, the former U.S. ambassador to Moscow — had been mocked by senior officers in the War Department. However, Harry Hopkins’s latest signals from Moscow, where he had met personally with Marshal Stalin, had given Roosevelt renewed confidence in his own judgment. The President had therefore decided, in his own mind, America’s best course of action — but it was not yet something he was willing to share with his chiefs of staff or his cabinet. Nor with Winston Churchill, the political leader of a foreign, fading colonial power.


To the surprise of his military advisers, then, the Commander in Chief had ordered all plans for U.S. military operations against the Azores, the defense of Brazil, as well as possible U.S. occupation of Vichy French territories in the Caribbean (which could be used as German naval bases) to be shelved. Instead, on July 9, 1941, he had formally instructed the secretary of war to draw up, in concert with the navy, a secret military plan or estimate: what exactly it would ultimately require of Congress and the U.S. military in terms of men, money, and machines to win the war against Hitler — and possibly the Japanese — if war came the following year, 1942, or, preferably, in 1943. That report was not due to be completed until September 1941. Thus, as the President set off for his sea summit with Churchill, his purpose was not to declare war on Germany, as the Prime Minister evidently hoped, but to see how war could be avoided for the moment.




 





With the press fooled as to Roosevelt’s whereabouts, and his own staff, the cabinet, and even the U.S. chiefs of staff kept deliberately in the dark about the purpose of the powwow with Churchill, the most extraordinary drama now took place. Only the President — who seemed almost absurdly confident — appeared to have any idea what was going on, or of what was intended or likely to happen.


“There is I fear little chance of my getting to Campobello,” the President had apologized in a letter to his elderly mother, who was summering at the Roosevelt camping estate off the coast of New Brunswick — but “I am feeling really well & the war is now encouraging to my peace of mind — in spite of the deceits & wiles of the Japs.”21


To his distant cousin Daisy (an outwardly prim spinster with whom he had formed a quite intimate friendship over the past decade), Roosevelt was more jokey. “Strange thing happened this morning,” he wrote her en voyage on August 5 — for he, his doctor, and his personal staff, even his beloved little Scottie, Fala, had “suddenly found ourselves transferred with all our baggage & mess crew from the little ‘Potomac’ to the Great Big Cruiser ‘Augusta’! And then, the island of Martha’s Vineyard disappeared in the distance, and as we head out into the Atlantic all we can see is our protecting escort, a heavy cruiser and four destroyers. Curiously enough the Potomac still flies my flag & tonight will be seen by thousands as she passes quietly through the Cape Cod Canal, guarded on shore by Secret Service and State Troopers while in fact the Pres. will be about 250 miles away. Even at my ripe old age I feel a thrill in making a get-away — especially from the American press. It is a smooth sea & a lovely day.”22


The President was, in short, enjoying himself, hugely. Having bypassed Secretary Hull — who did not learn of the trip until Roosevelt was aboard the USS Augusta23 — the President had secretly summoned Hull’s under-secretary, Sumner Welles: the handsome professional diplomat, six feet three inches tall, who had attended the same school and college as FDR and had been a page boy at Roosevelt’s wedding. Welles was, the President instructed, to travel separately, joining the U.S. team in Newfoundland. In the meantime Welles was ordered to start drafting a declaration of the President’s postwar peace aims.


Postwar peace aims?


It was this document, not a putative agreement to enter the war, that the President had determined would make history. Although Roosevelt had, at the last minute, decided to take extra people to the meeting, they would still amount to less than half the number the British were bringing. Churchill had signaled that his party would include twenty-eight officers, military planners, and backup clerks, as well as (unbeknown to the President) two journalists and five photographers. By contrast, the President had limited himself to General Marshall, Admiral Stark, General Arnold, Admiral King, and only a handful of their staff; also his White House doctor, his appointments secretary, and his secret-intelligence officer24 — advisers to the President who would, as Roosevelt made clear, be under strict orders to say nothing that would in any way commit the U.S. military, beyond its current Western Hemisphere patrol and military-supply duties under the congressionally authorized Lend-Lease.


In short, any talk of operational military cooperation with the British, let alone an alliance, was streng verboten, the President told his military contingent when they finally assembled in his cabin onboard the USS Augusta, shortly after their arrival in Placentia Bay on August 7, 1941. They were merely to listen to the British.




 





Marshall, Stark, and Arnold were stunned.


As General Arnold noted in his diary on August 4 aboard the Tuscaloosa as it steamed north from New York, where he had boarded, he hadn’t even brought enough clothes for the trip. “Thank God there is a laundry aboard. Where are we going? And why? Certainly the crew and the ship’s officers do not know. Twice I was about to be informed and twice someone came up and I heard nothing.”25


When the pioneering airman — the first to fly over the U.S. Capitol, and two-time winner of the Mackay Trophy — was brought by launch to the USS Augusta, off Martha’s Vineyard, Admiral King, commander of the Atlantic Fleet and the man in charge of the secret expedition, had thrown a fit. “King quite mad because we came aboard his ship and he knew nothing about it. He gave us a look, got mad and went out to cool off prior to our getting in his office,” Arnold noted.26 They did not like each other.


Once King had finally cooled down, however, “Marshall and Stark came in. Marshall told us of our ‘Brenner Pass’ conference ahead” — a mocking reference to Hitler’s earlier meeting with Mussolini to concert Axis strategy, and then his recent meeting at the beginning of June 1941, prior to Operation Barbarossa, the invasion of Russia — an offensive that the Führer had somehow failed to mention in advance to his main ally, lest the Italians leak the date and details! The Anglo-American version, General Arnold now learned from Marshall and Stark, would take place off Newfoundland and begin, General Marshall explained, on Saturday, August 9 — with Arnold ordered to remain on the Tuscaloosa, away from Marshall and Stark — lest they form a military triumvirate, as in ancient Rome, and spoil the President’s plan.


It seemed a strange way to prepare for modern war, let alone fight one. But then, unknown to the somewhat “unsophisticated” air force general,27 or even to Stark and Marshall, that was precisely the President’s point.




 





Churchill’s plan, concocted with his chiefs of staff before setting out from Scotland, was very different.


Acting as both British prime minister and minister of defense (a position he had created for himself, thus making himself military as well as political supremo), Churchill had decided in advance that he should first present to the American team his own strategic overview of the current war — and his plans for winning it. This would be followed by carefully drawn-up military proposals in the “Future Strategy Paper,” a formal document his chiefs of staff would present to the American team as to how to achieve military victory — with American help.


Such an agenda for the summit had by no means been agreed to by the President, however. In fact, the scheme had not even been communicated to him — leaving the British “war party” somewhat anxious as they rehearsed in advance the ceremony of piping the President aboard the HMS Prince of Wales (a ceremony, given the President’s disability, requiring a reversal of normal naval procedure: British officers would have to file past and salute the President, rather than vice versa).


“The programme is quite unknown at present,” the Prime Minister’s military assistant noted in his diary on August 8, 1941. “All that is certain is that the Prime Minister will call on the President and the President will call on the Prime Minister, but whether they will be accompanied by their Chiefs of Staff or whether the Chiefs of Staff will go separately will not be known till we reach harbour and there is an opportunity to consult the wishes of the Americans…. The Chiefs of Staff met once during the day, at noon. There is little more they can do now until the meetings start.”28




 





Onboard the USS Augusta, things were not much clearer.


On August 6, steaming through fog and with its radar malfunctioning, the huge cruiser had put out its antimine paravanes, which “made a lot of noise,” the President noted in his diary-style letter to his cousin that afternoon, revealing they were “off Halifax and in the submarine area — Tho’ there have been no reports of them in these waters recently.” Visibility was good, but Roosevelt had gotten word that morning of a “leak” in London regarding the meeting — though “it seems to be pure guesswork,” he told Daisy, unworried. “I went up to the deck above — alone in the bow & the spray came over as it has before.”29


The President seemed entirely in his element, “smiling and cheerful,” as Admiral Stark described him30 — the former assistant secretary of the U.S. Navy in a previous world war now the nation’s commander in chief; commander in chief, moreover, not only of the country’s navy, but its army and burgeoning air force too.


Emerging on deck at 11:00 a.m. the next day, August 7, the President was glad he’d overruled Churchill’s suggestion that they meet at an alternative British location. Under U.S. management, Argentia was bustling with American activity. “[F]ound several destroyers & patrol planes at this new base of ours,” Roosevelt boasted to Daisy, “— one of the eight [bases] I got last August in exchange for the 50 destroyers. It is a really beautiful harbor, high mountains, deep water & fjord-like arms of the sea. Soon after we anchored, in came one of our old battleships accompanied by two destroyers — & on one of the latter F[ranklin] Jr. is asst. navigator — so I have ordered him to act as my Junior Naval Aide while I am here,” he confided proudly, referring to his son. The “old battleship” was the World War I–era thirty-thousand-ton dreadnought USS Arkansas: three times the size of the Augusta, mounting a dozen twelve-inch guns and carrying three floatplanes.


“It was a complete surprise to him & to me to meet thus,” the President told Daisy. In fact, loath to show favoritism, the President, who hoped to spend the afternoon fishing and to see how the naval station was progressing, soon summoned his chief of the Army Air Forces, General Arnold, and ordered that his other son, Elliott, an Army Air Corps navigator currently stationed at Gander, “80 miles from here,” should “join me as Junior Military Aide. Again, pure luck, but very nice.”31


The President was fortunate in his fishing sally, too — catching “toad fish, dog fish and halibut,” General Arnold noted in his diary.32 Arnold had earlier upset the President by his reluctance to recommend selling, let alone giving, warplanes to Britain, concerned that it would slow deliveries to his own U.S. Air Corps; in fact, “I felt I was about to lose my job,” Arnold later recalled as, “looking directly at me,” the President had said “there were places to which officers who did not ‘play ball’ might be sent — such as Guam.”33 In the end it was only on General Marshall’s recommendation that the President had relented, and finally, a few weeks before, had forwarded Arnold’s name to Congress for promotion from mere colonel to the rank of permanent major general. Relieved to be back in presidential favor, Arnold dutifully congratulated the President on his angling success.


Arnold possessed one advantage over his colleagues, however: he was the only one to have met — indeed stayed — with Prime Minister Churchill in England, that spring. His personal report to the Commander in Chief at the White House — advocating more airplane production and assistance to the British in countering the continuing German bombing of London and other British cities — had saved his career, which was slated to end that fall, after the usual two-year stint. But though he had genuinely admired the courage of Londoners enduring the Blitz — pounded by upwards of five hundred German bombers each night — the experience of being bombed had only increased Arnold’s determination to build up America’s own heavy-bomber air force, not dissipate its strength by giving most of U.S. airplane production to the Brits. To his boss, General Marshall, Arnold had therefore said that morning: “We must be prepared to put a [U.S.] force into the war if and when we enter. The people will want action and not excuses. We will be holding the sack. Time then will be just as important to us as it is to the British now.”34


This was a new, more assertive Hap Arnold, aviator and spokesman for air power. As commander in chief, however, the President was determined not to allow the military to decide American policy, which he was intent on holding strictly in his own hands. The airman was thus summoned a second time that afternoon, to the Augusta, at 4:30 p.m. “Sort of heavy seas, almost fell into sea when little boat went down,” Arnold recorded, “and gangway to big ship went up.” Having spoken to General Marshall, Arnold then filed into Roosevelt’s cabin, along with Admiral King, Admiral Stark, General Marshall, General James Burns, Colonel Harvey Bundy, and General Edwin “Pa” Watson, the President’s elderly appointments secretary and longtime military aide.


Welcoming the officers for the first time on the trip as a group, the Commander in Chief then made clear that the meeting with Mr. Churchill and his staff was to be informal and informational — i.e., neither strategic nor political. The United States was not, repeat not, at war with Germany, and had no congressional mandate to go to war. Nevertheless, it was the policy of the U.S. government to aid both Britain and Russia in their struggle to deal with the Axis menace in Europe, as it was to aid China in its struggle with the expansionist Empire of Japan. Making sure that military aid was manufactured and successfully delivered to Great Britain, Russia, and China was the point at issue — without incurring war. Indeed, it was the President’s purpose to dissuade the Axis powers and Japan from risking war with the United States as the U.S. ramped up military production, by deterrence: i.e., showing strength rather than weakness. There was to be no collective summit of the U.S. chiefs of staff with the British chiefs of staff; rather, they would simply meet one-on-one with their counterparts, to find out what the British needed in the way of weaponry and help.


The officers got the message. No politics. And absolutely no mention of U.S. military strategy, let alone U.S. entry into the war.


“Discussed: convoys,” Arnold noted in his diary, and “defense of convoys: US responsibility for getting [Lend-Lease] cargoes safely delivered … [L]ine of [U.S.] responsibility extends east of the Azores and east of Iceland; duties and responsibilities of Navy; what British may want from [U.S.] Navy, ships from Maritime Commission; tanks from Army, airplanes; troops in Iceland, Marines, relief by soldiers; airplanes to Russia; aid to Philippines, B-17s, P-40s, tanks, AA guns.” The only nod to future strategy related to the question of Japan, whose government’s most secret war plans had been revealed by “Magic,” the U.S. Army’s Signals Intelligence decryption of the supposedly unbreakable Japanese “Purple” diplomatic code. The United States would, the President stated, “turn deaf ear if Japan goes into Thailand but not if it goes into Dutch East Indies.”35




 





In later years, General Marshall would look back at the lack of preparation for the Placentia Bay conference with disbelief. Claiming he “had no knowledge” of the impending discussions with the British “until we were well up the coast on the cruiser Augusta,” Marshall had had no time to assemble papers or even files in advance. At the President’s firm insistence, he’d found, the rendezvous was to be “largely a get-together for the first time, an opportunity to meet the British chiefs of staff, and to come to some understanding with them as to how they worked and what their principal problems were.”36


Having given his pep talk, the President meanwhile sent his lieutenants back to their quarters — with no instructions even to meet again the next day.


General Arnold was not the only one to be amazed. With nothing to do on August 8, since Churchill’s battleship was delayed by heavy weather in mid-Atlantic, Admiral Stark and Admiral King commandeered a Catalina navy patrol plane and flew up to the Avalon Peninsula, while General Marshall suggested to Arnold that they inspect the growing U.S.-Canadian air base at Gander Lake, the final staging post for U.S. aircraft being delivered by air to the United Kingdom.37 As they circled Placentia Bay in their twin-engine Grumman Goose seaplane on their return, they saw that even more U.S. vessels and floatplanes had arrived in the harbor. “We now have corvettes, destroyers, destroyer leaders, cruisers, one battleship, two tankers, one aircraft tender, about 18 [four-engined] PBYs and PBYMs,” Arnold noted. Moreover, as they disembarked and transferred back to their warships “we saw a large 4-engine flying boat arrive. Where from? The U.S.? What for? Carrying two distinguished passengers? Who?” he recorded the questions running through his and Marshall’s minds.38


One passenger, they learned, was the undersecretary of state, Sumner Welles. Was the President preparing a diplomatic surprise, then, despite his assurances the previous day? Was he contemplating a more formal alliance with the Prime Minister, who was due to arrive first thing the next morning — even American entry into the war?


It was a measure of General Arnold’s naïveté — and the success of the President’s insistence on keeping his military team lodged on different vessels, with no orders but to listen to the British war needs once Churchill’s party arrived — that the primary U.S. air force general had absolutely no idea what was going on. “I can’t make up mind as yet whether most of us are window dressing for the main actors,” he would write several days later.39 For the moment, however, finding “everyone taking a nap” onboard the Tuscaloosa, he was completely in the dark.40




 





Sumner Welles, for his part, experienced no such puzzlement. A consummate professional of the “striped pants brigade,” the assistant secretary of state was both counselor and confidant to the President — who trusted him more than the secretary of state, Cordell Hull, who, a former congressman and senator, was very much a distinguished political appointee.


To Welles the President had stated, before leaving Washington, that he wanted “some kind of public statement of objectives.”41 It should be, he explained, a draft declaration that would “hold out hope to the enslaved peoples of the world,”42 based upon his famous “four freedoms” address (of speech and worship; from want and fear).43 That would be all the President wanted of a concrete, or formal, nature from the conference. Such a peace communiqué would quieten the isolationists at home, and give the Prime Minister something positive to take back to Britain. It would also serve to mask, the President intended, America’s complete military unpreparedness for war.


The fact was, for all the outward show of U.S. naval and air strength to impress the British visitors on their arrival at Placentia Bay, the United States had no army to speak of — at least no army capable of mounting anything other than a minor operation overseas; no air force with the capacity to deter a determined enemy, let alone support its own ground troops; and no navy able to operate effectively in one ocean, let alone in two.44 As the official historians of the U.S. Army later put it, “the United States Army’s offensive combat strength was still close to zero.”45


Worse still, according to General Marshall, the U.S. Army was now in a “desperate plight” unless the Selective Service Bill, or draft, was extended for a further six months. Its belated preparations for possible war were in imminent danger of being put back “a year and a half or two years,” if its current eight hundred thousand draftees were sent home, once the draft lapsed. Letting these trainees go home would result in “the complete destruction of the fabric of the army that we had built up,” Marshall told the President — who had meanwhile heard from the Speaker that there were insufficient Democratic votes in the House of Representatives to pass the extension bill; in fact, at the very moment when the President was secretly steaming to Placentia Bay on August 6, the majority leader had reported to the White House that he simply had not enough votes to pass the new bill.46


Yet to Welles and to Averell Harriman — the U.S. Lend-Lease administrator who had accompanied the undersecretary of state in the flying boat from the capital — the President looked and sounded refreshed, indeed positively ebullient, during their three-hour talk.47 “Father looked well, and was obviously enjoying his break in routine,” Roosevelt’s son Elliott also found when, along with his brother Franklin Jr., he was ushered into the presence of the nation’s commander in chief.48


Captain Elliott Roosevelt had recently been scouting potential bases for air ferry and delivery routes across the Northern Hemisphere. Like General Arnold, he’d stayed with Churchill at Chequers, the British premier’s official country residence, on a visit to England. In Elliott’s account, published five years later, the President now rehearsed over lunch with his sons the next day’s meeting with the Prime Minister: a meeting that he saw primarily as morale-boosting. “You were there,” the President said to Elliott. “You saw the people. You’ve even told me how they look — gray and thin and strained. A meeting like this one will do a world of good for British morale,” his father asserted — adding that the British would be concerned over “Lend-Lease schedules” now that Russia, too, would be receiving American military aid. “They’ll be worried about how much of our production we’re going to divert to the Russians,” the President predicted — the British still convinced Hitler was going to win on the Eastern Front. “I know already how much faith the P.M. has in Russia’s ability to stay in the war,” Roosevelt remarked — snapping his fingers to indicate zilch.49


“I take it you have more faith than that?” his son queried.


Roosevelt did — his confidence buoyed after receiving Hopkins’s recent cables from Moscow. Although the war on the Eastern Front would help England, it wouldn’t save Britain in the long run, the President told his son.


“‘The P.M. is coming here tomorrow because — although I doubt that he’ll show it — he knows that without America, England can’t stay in the war…. Of course,’ my father went on, ‘Churchill’s greatest concern is how soon we will be in the war. He knows very well that so long as American effort is confined to production, it will do no more than keep England in. He knows that to mount an offensive, he needs American troops…. Watch and see if the P.M. doesn’t start off by demanding that we immediately declare war against the Nazis.’”50




 





Elliott, who had been the first of Roosevelt’s sons to join the U.S. Armed Forces, would become increasingly ambivalent in the ensuing years about Britain’s national interests, and may have been dramatizing the conversation he recalled with his father. However, the gist of it was probably correct, judging by contemporary accounts — especially the President’s next assertion: namely that the “British Empire is at stake here.”51


To his sons, FDR portrayed the British and the Germans as having been engaged in a struggle over trade for decades: a struggle that had turned into a new war between the revived German Empire and the ailing British Empire: a war the United States could not simply exploit out of greed — “what will profit us most greatly,” as isolationists such as his former ambassador to London, Joseph P. Kennedy, advocated — since its outcome would affect the very future of the world. This did not mean that the U.S. should favor, let alone save, Britain as a colonial empire, however.


The United States had a noble Constitution, deriving from its Declaration of Independence from Britain, which the President was proud to uphold, and which as president he felt bound to embody, as far as was possible, in his foreign policy: that “all men are created equal, that they are endowed by their Creator with certain unalienable Rights, that among these are Life, Liberty and the pursuit of Happiness.” This fundamental striving for “Liberty” made the U.S. a natural enemy of Nazism. “Leaving to one side for the moment that Nazism is hateful,” he told Elliott, “and that our natural interests, our hearts, are with the British,” there was, he confided to his son, “another angle. We’ve got to make clear to the British from the very outset that we don’t intend to be simply a good-time Charlie who can be used to help the British Empire out of a tight spot, and then be forgotten forever.” Taken aback, Elliott had feigned incomprehension.


“I think I speak as America’s President when I say that America won’t help England in this war,” Roosevelt made clear to his son, “simply so that she will be able to ride roughshod over colonial peoples.”52


Elliott, five years later, claimed to have been astonished at this revelation. “I think,” he recalled telling his father, “I can see there will be a little fur flying here and there in the next few days.”53




 





Early next morning, Saturday, August 9, 1941, the grand bout began — heralded by the arrival of the Prime Minister’s battleship.


Normally, Churchill rose late, liking to work in bed, dictating to a secretary. This time, however, the Prime Minister was up soon after dawn, standing on the admiral’s bridge aboard HMS Prince of Wales — “eager and restless as a boy, longing for the first sight of the Stars and Stripes,” as one of the two journalists he’d unwisely brought with him recorded. “Just out of bed, his sandy hair still ruffled by the pillow, he stood watching the sea that stretched to the New World. In a few hours ceremony and anthems would begin, but in that quiet opening of the day, like a warrior awakened from his tent, he stood unarmed at dawn, surveying the scene, wondering maybe what the day would bring forth.”54


Things soon went wrong. The battle-scarred Prince of Wales (which had narrowly avoided being sunk by the German battleship Bismarck in May) was due to anchor in Placentia Bay at 9:00 a.m. When, preceded by an American destroyer and shadowed by two U.S. flying boats circling above, the ship’s company fell in at 8:30 a.m. — marines with fixed bayonets, Mr. Churchill standing in his dark-blue uniform as Lord Warden of the Cinque Ports, and a marine band ready to play — the huge thirty-five-thousand-ton battleship began to tilt and “started turning to starboard,” Churchill’s military assistant, Colonel Jacob, recorded in his diary that night. To Jacob’s surprise, “we found ourselves heading out again.”55


The two nations were, it appeared, observing different times — the U.S. following Eastern Standard Time, the British observing Newfoundland Time.


“We kicked our heels for an hour and a half,” Jacob noted, “and then went through the whole process again,” steaming slowly past the anchored vessels of the American armada: the men called to attention as they passed each vessel, until they reached a central body of clear water and the USS Augusta.56


The British band played “The Star-Spangled Banner,” while across the water they heard “God Save the King.” “The Prime Minister stood with the Chiefs of Staff and others at the after end of the Quarter Deck,” Colonel Jacob noted, “and through our glasses we could see President Roosevelt under an awning just below the Bridge of the ‘Augusta.’”57 Dropping anchor some three hundred yards away, the formalities continued with the piping aboard of Admiral King’s chief of staff, stepping up the gangway from a launch. There followed, for Churchill, another wait of one and a half hours before he was invited to board the President’s gleaming cruiser.


For his part, the President had slept well, and was almost as excited as Churchill — though for a different reason. “All set for the big day tomorrow,” he’d written his cousin the night before. “I wish you could see this scene. By the way,” he cautioned, “don’t ever give any times or places or names or numbers of ships!”58


Anxious not to be blindsided by any misunderstanding, Roosevelt had ordered Harry Hopkins to transfer immediately from the Prince of Wales — on which he had sailed with Churchill, following his dramatic air journey to the Kremlin — to the USS Augusta after the British battleship anchored. General Arnold, too, was summoned from his quarters on the Tuscaloosa. The airman was “received on deck by President, Stark, Marshall, King, Watson, Elliott Roosevelt, and F. Roosevelt, Jr.,” as Arnold noted in his diary. “First to appear from below Sumner Welles then A. Harriman; soon a boat from the Prince of Wales, Harry Hopkins came aboard.”59


Hopkins had earlier cabled the President a long report of his tête-à-tête with Stalin in Moscow — telling the President that the Russians were not about to cave in. Now, in person, he was anxious to confirm to the President and the chiefs of staff that he had not been whitewashing the Russian situation, as the U.S. Army chief of staff feared. Contrary to General Marshall’s military intelligence reports from Europe — most especially those of the U.S. military attaché in Moscow — there was absolutely no doubt in Hopkins’s mind that Hitler’s invasion of Russia had by then nowhere near succeeded. “The Russians are confident, claim 2,500 plane output a month without counting 15 training planes a day,” Arnold wrote in his diary, impressed. “Stalin claims the Russians have 24,000 tanks.”60


Twenty-four thousand? Marshall was skeptical, since Hopkins was no military expert, yet the President chose to trust his emissary’s judgment, at that moment, more than Marshall’s — perhaps because it was what he wanted to hear. Hopkins also reported that Stalin had begged him — as had Churchill, in May — to ask the President to enter the conflict and declare war on Germany.


For President Roosevelt, Hopkins’s verbal summary on the USS Augusta that morning became the keystone he needed in putting into effect the latest plan he’d concocted the day before with Welles and Harriman. If the Soviet Union was to hold out until the following year, when America would be fully armed and ready for combat in Europe, it was in America’s best interests — as the President had drummed into his staff at the White House throughout July — to provide as much weaponry and aid as possible to the Russians, rather than giving all foreign aid to Britain, let alone enter the war on Britain’s behalf, with all the military responsibilities and commitments this would require. Neither Stalin nor Churchill, ironically, seemed to have any idea how puny were current U.S. armed forces, at least with regard to offensive capacity, outside the continental United States. Moreover, the Selective Service extension bill was hanging by a thread in Washington, and the vast majority of the nation (between 75 and 80 percent, according to polls)61 remained unwilling to go to war to save Britain’s imperial possessions — and even less willing to go to war to save Russia’s Communist empire, however much they might distrust Hitler.


Swearing his chiefs of staff once again to silence in terms of U.S. military strategy, the President made clear that he alone, as president and commander in chief, would be in charge of the two-day meeting. There would be no U.S. military “team”: only a commander in chief backed by his various army, navy, and air officers as advisers.




• • •





Having cleared the air, the President was helped to his feet by his sons, acting as his equerries, ready to receive the British prime minister and his entourage.


Promptly at 11:00 a.m. on August 10, 1941, the admiral’s barge of the HMS Prince of Wales approached the USS Augusta. As the bullheaded, chubby-faced Prime Minister in his peaked cap mounted the gangway, stepped onto the deck, and walked forward to shake hands with the waiting President, standing upright by the guardrail beside his son Elliott — Mr. Roosevelt a head taller than his British counterpart and dressed in a light-gray Palm Beach suit and hat — the introductory ceremonies came to a climax: the Prime Minister handing over a letter of introduction from his sovereign, King George VI, who had met and stayed with President Roosevelt at Hyde Park two years before.


Ironically, tall Lord Halifax, the man King George VI would have preferred to see as prime minister on the resignation of Neville Chamberlain the year before, was now in Washington, demoted from foreign secretary to British ambassador to the United States. Instead, as the Prime Minister of Great Britain, there stood little Winston Spencer Churchill — short, pudgy, menacing, and pugnacious — who had yearned all his life for the post, and had finally got it. Like most of the world, the King, however, had quickly responded to Churchill’s rhetoric, if not his style of decision-making. The King’s letter, when the President read it through, was brief but nicely phrased. He was glad, George VI wrote, “that you have an opportunity at last of getting to know my Prime Minister. I am sure you will agree that he is a very remarkable man, and I have no doubt that your meeting will prove of great benefit to our two countries in pursuit of our common goal.”62


“Our common goal” was delicately put — neither mincing nor presumptuous. “We all met on the top deck and were duly photographed & then Churchill stayed on board & lunched with me alone,” the President confided to his cousin afterwards.63


The Lion of England was, if not on American soil, then under American custodial protection.




 





At their private luncheon the President was polite, but noncommittal.


As Roosevelt’s aide and speechwriter Robert Sherwood would describe, “If either of them could be called a student of Machiavelli, it was Roosevelt; if either was a bull in a china shop, it was Churchill.”64


Certainly Churchill was bullish. He began by stating how privileged he felt to meet Mr. Roosevelt at last in person. The President corrected him, however, pointing out that they had already met. Did Churchill not remember the occasion? It had been twenty-three years earlier, at a Gray’s Inn dinner during World War I, when Churchill was a British cabinet minister and minister of munitions. Roosevelt had been in London on an official visit as assistant U.S. secretary of the navy. Churchill had ignored him.


Strike one to the President.


When Churchill then admitted that, in addition to the twenty-eight members of his military, diplomatic, and scientific staff, he had also brought along two British journalists and a five-man camera crew, in direct contravention of Roosevelt’s instructions regarding “no media,” the President was understandably irritated. Given his own determined efforts to escape the American press and preserve privacy as well as secrecy, the Prime Minister’s faux pas seemed extraordinarily gauche. Churchill quickly assured the President that the journalists would not be permitted to board any U.S. vessel, or to interview the President or any American officers, or to publish any account of the meeting when they returned, at least not until the following year.


Strike two to the President.


This agreed, the President, as host, ran over the agenda for the two days of meetings — making it clear that the get-together was not, repeat not, to be seen as a formal conference of political and military leaders gathering to make war. The President and Prime Minister were meeting merely to discuss matters as leaders of their respective countries: the one neutral, the other at war with Germany. Each U.S. chief of staff would be permitted to meet with his British opposite number to learn more of British needs — but with no roundtable discussion or semblance of a formal conference that could in any way be construed by people at home as an alliance. Most important of all, the President announced, he wanted to issue with the Prime Minister a joint declaration of principles, or war aims, in order to inspire the peoples of the “enslaved” countries and others.


For Winston Churchill, the President’s easy charm — he began straightway calling him Winston — belied a steely American assurance that was close to arrogance: a projection of intelligent confidence in his own judgment that was hard to dent. The President was like a player holding all the cards — at least the cards that mattered — with little indication that he had any intention of declaring war on anyone.


Understandably, Churchill’s heart sank. Hopkins had seen his own role as that of catalyst between “two prima donnas,” but was unable to do much to relieve the tension. The summit thus lurched into second gear — Hopkins hoping food and libation might ease the encounter.


To Elliott Roosevelt, who was invited for coffee after the “tête-à-tête” luncheon, the atmosphere seemed little better. He found the two world leaders “politely sparring,” as they sat facing each other. “My information, Franklin, is that the temper of the American people is strongly in our favor,” Churchill claimed. “That in fact they are ready to join the issue.”


“If you are interested in American opinion, I recommend you read the Congressional Record every day, Winston,” the President retaliated tartly.


“Two ideas were clashing head-on,” Elliott recalled: “the P.M. clearly was motivated by one governing thought, that we should declare war on Nazi Germany straightaway; the President was thinking of public opinion, American politics, all the intangibles that lead to action and at once betray it.”


Finally, “after draining his glass, the P.M. heaved himself to his feet. It was close to two-thirty.” The quasi papal audience was clearly over. “Father mentioned he was sending, on behalf of our Navy, gifts to the officers and men of the Prince of Wales and her three escorting destroyers,” Elliott recalled. “The P.M. acknowledged this information with a nod and a short word, and left” — leaving Sir Alexander Cadogan, his chief diplomatic civil servant as undersecretary of the Foreign Office, to meet with Undersecretary Welles. They could discuss the President’s proposed declaration of principles and other matters — such as the threat from Japan.


Given the prohibition against alcohol being served on U.S. naval vessels, it had been, the diminutive Cadogan wrote in his diary, “a very unsatisfactory, dry, déjeuner à la fourchette”65 — the Prime Minister so disappointed he had simply gone to bed with a stiff drink, once back onboard the Prince of Wales.




 





The Prime Minister could be forgiven for feeling disappointed, even humiliated.


Surely, he reasoned in his bunk, he had not sailed more than two thousand miles through heavy seas, often without air or sea escort (the ocean had turned too rough for the British destroyers to keep up), simply to be given American food parcels for his crew: an orange, two apples, half a pound of cheese, and two hundred cigarettes in each seaman’s package? He therefore hoped his second meeting with the President, when dining aboard the Augusta that evening, would prove more productive.


Harry Hopkins had sent a personal message over to the Prince of Wales, informing the Prime Minister that he had “just talked to the President.” Mr. Roosevelt was, Hopkins wrote, “very anxious, after dinner tonight, to invite in the balance of the [U.S.] staff and wants to ask you to talk very informally to them about your general appreciation of the war…. I imagine there will be twenty-five people altogether. The President, of course, does not want anything formal about it.”66


The President had also asked whether, as per their lunch conversation, the Prime Minister would be the one willing to try his hand at a first draft of the declaration of principles, in his inimitable English, so that it could become a true Anglo-American document: not a declaration of war, but a declaration of peace — at least, the peace they were seeking in confronting the Nazi menace, and after.67




 





To his cousin later that day the President described Churchill as “a tremendously vital person & in many ways is an English Mayor La Guardia!” — likening Churchill to the diminutive mayor of New York, an authoritarian, excitable, liberal Republican. “Don’t say I said so!” Roosevelt enjoined Daisy, since the comparison was in some ways unflattering.


The President did not mean the description maliciously, however. He had, after all, recently made La Guardia his first director of civilian defense. “I like him,” he confided to Daisy his feelings about Churchill, “— and lunching alone broke the ice both ways.”68


The idea of getting Churchill to write a first draft of the President’s declaration of principles was certainly brilliant, though; it would force Churchill to own the project as much as the President did. The stratagem may well have issued from Hopkins’s fertile brain and his psychological understanding of the Prime Minister’s ego — flattering him by the request for a draft couched in high, stirring English prose, as well as a peroration before the American chiefs of staff that would impress them.


Hopkins, often on the point of death because of the stomach cancer he had suffered,69 had, after all, heard the Prime Minister give a number of spellbinding tour d’horizon talks on his two visits to Britain that year: Churchill’s rhetoric full of memorable metaphors and demonstrating a command of history and language, with an Olympian perspective that raised him head and shoulders above any English-speaking contemporary. Moreover, in asking Churchill to produce the first draft of a joint declaration of principles, the President would be putting the Prime Minister on the spot, since Churchill, as supplicant at the American court, could scarcely refuse. Vanity, Hopkins assured the President, would do the rest.


Roosevelt left nothing to chance, however. Dinner aboard the USS Augusta comprised hors d’oeuvres, broiled chicken, buttered sweet peas, spinach omelet, candied sweet potatoes, mushroom sauce, current jelly and hot rolls, with tomato salad, then cheese and crackers to follow. After dinner there was conversation — and once again, in talking to Churchill, the President emphasized the need for an articulation of common peace aims, or “joint Anglo-American declaration of principles,” as Sir Alec Cadogan noted of the evening.70


Churchill was, in truth, incensed by the repeated request; he wanted an American declaration of war, not a declaration of principles. As a guest of the President of the United States, however, he could only plead — and plead he was determined to do, with all the words at his command.




 





The President, however, was as well known for his mastery of defensive as for aggressive tactics. In asking Churchill to speak to the whole American contingent, Roosevelt had felt it better to let the Prime Minister show his hand openly, rather than keep it cached, lest there be even a hint of behind-the-scenes transaction.


To remind the gathering that war in Europe involved more than just a commitment to Great Britain, Roosevelt insisted that Hopkins, who had given the President a typed report of his trip to Moscow that afternoon, first entertain the assembled dignitaries with his eyewitness account of his stay in the Kremlin and his one-on-one interviews with the Russian dictator, Joseph Stalin — the “ghost” at the table, so to speak.


It was the Prime Minister of Great Britain whom the assembled brass really wanted to hear, Roosevelt knew, however — and once Hopkins had spoken and the tables were cleared, Winston S. Churchill, the King’s First Minister of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, rose to deliver his “strategic overview.”


The longer the evening had progressed, the more Churchill — who had been given special dispensation to drink — had imbibed, and the more loquacious, even lyrical, he had become. The President’s military aide, General Watson, afterward admitted, for example, that he had been “curious as to whether he [Churchill] was a drunk.” As Churchill finally stood before the roomful of generals, he certainly assumed “a broader stance” than before — whether to steady himself or to marshal his thoughts, General Watson was unsure. Drunk or sober, the effect was remarkable, once he began his speech. “He held the floor that evening and he talked,” Elliott described. “Nor were the rest of us silent because we were bored. He held us enthralled even when we were inclined to disagree with him.”71


Even the President was impressed, according to Elliott. “My experience of him in the past,” the younger Roosevelt observed, “had been that he dominated every gathering he was part of; not because he insisted on it so much as that it always seemed his natural due. But not tonight. Tonight Father listened.”72


Watching Laurence Olivier and Vivian Leigh at the screening of the film Lady Hamilton the night before, onboard the Prince of Wales, one of the two banished British journalists had seen Churchill actually weep — the sight of which deeply moved the newsman. Olivier was a consummate British actor, but watching Winston Churchill, the journalist had found himself even more affected than by the screen icon. “I thought that in some extraordinary way he belongs definitely to an older England, to the England of the Tudors, a violent swashbuckling England perhaps, but a warm and emotional England too, an England as yet untouched by the hardness of an age of steel,” H. V. Morton afterward recalled. Why, Morton asked himself, did both ordinary and extraordinary people find themselves “so firmly held,” when Churchill spoke — “so silent until the last word?” He wondered if the enchantment might not lie in the fact that Churchill’s voice was “not of an industrialist, but of one who has, so to speak, missed the Industrial Revolution and speaks to us as if from the deck of the Golden Hind. Churchill’s voice is also classless…. Like the Elizabethans, he speaks not as an Etonian but as an Englishman.”73


Sir Alec Cadogan — who was an Etonian, and the son of an earl — was disappointed, having heard his master speak in public so often before, but Morton’s was an apt insight, and one that chimed with Roosevelt’s growing respect for the Prime Minister. The President was skeptical of Churchill’s judgment in terms of military operations against the Germans, which thus far in the war had not produced a single victory on the battlefield. Roosevelt was far from impressed, moreover, by the Prime Minister’s choice of subordinates, since the British chiefs on first acquaintance appeared that evening to be a polite, characterless, minion-like group of yes men. Rather, the President’s admiration belied a sort of compassion: a recognition by Roosevelt of Churchill’s courage: his tenacity, in a sea of mediocrity, in trying to make the best of the impossible situation he’d inherited from his mealy-mouthed, appeasement-minded predecessor, Neville Chamberlain — who had definitely not impressed the President. And admiration, too, for the Prime Minister’s remarkable intellect, amounting almost to genius: his insistent, valiant efforts to place the problems of the world within a wider, historical and moral, framework.


Not only was Churchill’s knowledge of history formidable, laced with a seemingly photographic memory for lines of poetry and idiosyncratic detail, but alongside his romantic exaggerations the Prime Minister could be disarmingly honest. Churchill thus admitted, freely, to his military audience — both his own countrymen and his American listeners — that his island nation, the previous summer, had been wholly unprepared for German invasion. “Hitler and his generals were too stupid,” the Prime Minister asserted. “They never knew. Or else they never dared.” According to Elliott, the subtext of this confession was an appeal for the United States, with all its military power, manpower, and industrial potential, to enter the war — Churchill’s underlying message being: “It’s your only chance! You’ve got to come in beside us! If you don’t declare war, I say, without waiting for them to strike the first blow, they’ll strike it after we’ve gone under, and the first blow will be their last as well!” Though his American listeners “could detect the underlying appeal,” Elliott noted, they could not fail to be moved by the Prime Minister’s personal courage and determination never to give in. Churchill’s “whole bearing,” Elliott Roosevelt recalled, “gave the impression of an indomitable force that would do all right, thank you, even if we didn’t heed his warning.”74


The President, sitting at the head of the table, with the Prime Minister on his right, impressed Alec Cadogan, meanwhile, who was placed on Mr. Roosevelt’s left. In his diary that night he noted the President’s “great, and natural, charm.”75 Listening to Churchill’s studded rhetoric, the President seemed content to remain quiet, save when interrupting to ask about Russia, and how long the Prime Minister thought it would hold out (not long, Churchill answered, once Hitler took Moscow and the Germans reached the Urals, perhaps striking even beyond).


The President chose not to argue. If war came to the United States — and as president he was determined to hold off that evil day — it was as well his chiefs of staff see for themselves who was at the helm of the fading British Empire: not only as England’s political leader but as a military strategist and commander in chief.


Britain had now been at war for two long years — and had learned many lessons, Churchill confessed. In contrast to World War I he characterized the struggle as “a mobile war, in the air, on the land, and at sea,” a war in which science and mechanical science were playing a crucial role.76 The British could not, and would not, give up their position in the Middle East; for by fighting the Germans at the farthest point from their bases in Germany, the British Commonwealth forces had the best chance of meeting their adversaries “on even terms.”77 Meanwhile, in the air, with enough bombers manufactured in Britain as well as those purchased or leased from the United States, they could “bring home to the Germans the horrors of war, just as the Germans had brought it home to the British.” If the United States would take over full convoy protection across the whole North Atlantic, this would enable the Royal Navy to send destroyers to the South Atlantic; if the U.S. would join Britain in “sending an ultimatum to Japan,” it could halt Japanese expansion. And if, in the successful aftermath, a new League of Nations could be set up, then the world could perhaps learn the lessons of Versailles, and start afresh, on a new page of history …78


“[N]ot his best,” Sir Alec Cadogan noted in his diary,79 but to the President it was exactly what he had hoped for. No businessman would want to enter a partnership, Roosevelt felt, with such a diffuse, fading imperial power; but by investing in the company, so to speak, he might well help it stave off bankruptcy. Lend-Lease was, in fact, doing that; the next step would be military. But not yet. Not when the United States was, in all truth, still a military mouse, despite its roar.




 





As Mr. Churchill rehearsed Britain’s strategy — to hang on to its collapsing colonial empire in the Middle East, India, Burma, Singapore, Malaya, and Hong Kong, and to harass Hitler’s Third Reich from its margins, in the hope that something might turn up, as in the parlance of Mr. Micawber — it was impossible for President Roosevelt and his chiefs of staff not to shake their heads at the Prime Minister’s mix of sentiment, myopia, and imagination. And luck! For not only had Hitler not invaded Britain when the country was at its most vulnerable, after the Dunkirk evacuation in May 1940, but something else had come up. Not an American entry into the war, as Churchill had so ardently wanted, but something in some ways even more fortunate for Britain and for America: Hitler’s crazed decision, after failing to bomb the English into submission in the Battle of Britain, to attack Russia.


No one but a Nazi madman could have undertaken such a gamble. Assuming — as the President did, especially after hearing Hopkins’s full report — that the Soviets would hold out, even if they had to retreat to the Urals, Hitler’s mistake would inevitably mean the survival of Great Britain. Though not necessarily the survival of the British colonial empire, which was, in President Roosevelt’s eyes, a different matter.


As he listened and occasionally prompted the Prime Minister to comment on how he saw certain issues — the Russian campaign, the threat of an expanding Japanese Empire in the Far East — the President felt more and more strongly that America’s moment of destiny was approaching. Despite the fact that American isolationists were currently fanning public fears and dictating congressional attitudes, the United States was going to have to fight eventually, the President was certain. Secret decrypts made it quite clear that the Japanese were hell-bent on war, just as the Germans had been — and no amount of Chamberlain-style diplomacy, appeasement, or negotiating would placate them.80 Yet the war that Winston Churchill was seeking — a war that preserved Britain’s colonial empire, while smashing Hitler and Hirohito’s empires — was not what President Roosevelt saw in America’s tea leaves. If and when war came, America must fight for its own role in the sun, as leader of a postimperial, democratic world. America would thus become not just the arsenal of democracy, but — as the world’s most prosperous nation by far — the senior partner in a new world order, with open borders and open markets.


To Churchill’s consternation, then, once the Prime Minister sat down, the President announced that the dinner was over. It was 11:30 — and the President was going to bed. The British visitors were promptly seen off the ship at 11:45, and reaching his cabin onboard the Prince of Wales, the Prime Minister, too, retired. He was exhausted by his own peroration, the disappointments of the day — and the President’s request that he begin the drafting of a joint declaration of peace aims.




 





“Considering all the tales of my reactionary, Old World outlook, and the pain this is said to have caused the President,” Churchill later wrote, he was proud to say it was he, not the President, who now produced the “first draft” of the declaration of principles that the President had requested, and that it was “a British production cast in my own words.”81


As David Reynolds, the British historian, later revealed, this was not, strictly speaking, the case.82 In truth, the next morning, as Sir Alec Cadogan was enjoying his breakfast of “bacon and eggs” in the admiral’s cabin, he was summoned by the Prime Minister, who was already up and on deck. “He wanted an immediate draft of the ‘joint declaration,’ which he outlined verbally.” Cadogan then “worked up a text, about which Churchill ‘expressed general but not very enthusiastic approval,’ but it was typed up virtually unchanged for the Prime Minister to give to the President.”83


The first draft was, then, a Cadogan production, rather than the Prime Minister’s. Moreover, Churchill later misrepresented his own feelings about the very idea of such a document.84 For what Churchill could not bring himself to admit, when penning his epic account of his war service, in 1949, was that this declaration was emphatically not what he had sailed all the way from Scapa Flow to Placentia Bay to obtain. Nor was it what Churchill wanted to subscribe to, as the prime minister of Great Britain and a servant of the British colonial empire. Biting his tongue, however, he approved Cadogan’s first iteration of the joint declaration — and turned to Plan B, set for 11:00 a.m. that Sunday morning, August 10, 1941: the arrival of the President of the United States on the Prince of Wales, and a rousing church service.




 





At first the program went without hitch. As the crews of the two great warships prepared for the difficult maneuver, the clouds above Placentia Bay parted, the sun shone, and the shoreline reminded some who were present of the spare beauty of the Western Isles of Scotland.


An American destroyer wedged lengthways between the main deck of the USS Augusta and the stern of HMS Prince of Wales allowed the President, his small staff, and three hundred American sailors to be piped aboard the British battleship for divine services without transferring to barges. There then followed a ceremony that Churchill had planned and rehearsed in detail with the crew of the Prince of Wales and his own staff, right down to the choice of hymns, even before their arrival in Canadian waters.


The President, an Episcopalian, was delighted to participate in the religious ceremony — even sending a presidential invitation to each member of his own staff to attend. Loath to allow Churchill to control the media rendering of the event, however, Roosevelt had wisely sent for his own camera crew — a group of American army film cameramen and still photographers working in Gander, who had been ordered to fly immediately to Argentia by Grumman floatplane. Churchill might want to give the appearance of an alliance, but President Roosevelt was determined that the imagery reflect his joint declaration of principles of peace — and how better than by showing men worshiping God together?


With the Royal Marine Band playing in the background, the President of the United States was “received with ‘honors,’” as he wrote his cousin that night, then “inspected the guard and walked aft to the quarter deck” — where, behind desks draped with the Stars and Stripes and Union Jack, he and the Prime Minister faced almost a thousand sailors grouped under the menacing fourteen-inch guns of the after-turret. The Prime Minister wore the dark blue uniform of the Royal Yacht Squadron, the President a blue double-breasted suit, “without a hat. It is a very great effort for the President to walk, and it took him a long time to get from the gangway to his chair, leaning on a stick and linking his arm with that of one of his sons who is acting as his A.D.C.,” Churchill’s military assistant recorded in his diary that night. “We heard that this was the longest walk that the President had ever taken since his illness many years ago.”85 As the President “slowly approached the assembled company,” wrote another British officer, “it was obvious to everybody that he was making a tremendous effort and that he was determined to walk along that deck even if it killed him.”86


Recorded on film, the service was profoundly affecting to those who took part — as it was to those who saw it on newsreels across America and the free world in the days and weeks afterward. Urged by their captain to “raise steam in an extra boiler so as to give the hymns extra value,”87 the British sailors — intermingled with their American guests and sharing with them their hymnals — sang “O God, Our Help in Ages Past,” “Onward, Christian Soldiers,” and — at the President’s urging — “Eternal Father, Strong to Save,” better known as “For Those in Peril on the Sea.” Six months later the huge warship would be attacked and sunk by Japanese planes in the South China Sea, its captain and many hundreds of the crew drowned.


H. V. Morton noticed once again how the Prime Minister’s “handkerchief stole from its pocket” — for it was almost impossible not to be touched by emotion. “A British & an American chaplain did the prayers,” the President himself described to Daisy.88 With their caps off, “it was difficult,” Morton later recalled, “to say who was American and who was British; and the sound of their voices rising together in the hymn was carried far out over the sea. In the long, frightful panorama of this War, a panorama of guns and tanks crushing the life out of men, of women and children weeping and of homes blasted into rubble by bombs, there had been no scene like this.” It was, he wrote, “a scene, it seemed, from another world, conceived on lines different from anything known to the pageant-masters of the Axis.”89


Aboard the Prince of Wales, as the divine service ended, the President seemed wonderfully confident. “Captain Leach read the lesson — and then we were all photographed — front, sides & rear!” he described to Daisy. “Next I inspected the P. of W. in my [wheel]chair, then sherry in the Ward Room & then a ‘beautiful’ lunch of about 40 — Toasts followed by two speeches.”90




 





Churchill had certainly ordered nothing but the best for his guests, given the dire situation in an England suffering grave food shortages and universal rationing. The menu for the President and his entourage featured smoked salmon, caviar, turtle soup, freshly shot roast Scottish grouse, dessert, coffee, wines and liqueurs, with mood music played by the Royal Marine Band. In addition to the formal toasts to the King and to the President, there was even a risqué joke by Hopkins and welcome news that the German battleship Tirpitz had been espied in the dockyard at Kiel, meaning it would not have time to put to sea and prey upon the Prime Minister on his return voyage.


Afterward the President was introduced to the Prime Minister’s junior staff. To the chagrin of the British chiefs of staff, however, that was it. As Churchill’s military aide lamented, “it had been the intention that the Chiefs of Staff should have a short meeting with the American Chiefs of Staff at which to hand over the Future Strategy Paper. However, this went by the board as Admiral Stark and General Marshall decided to go back to their ships with the President.”91


The luncheon, intended as the prelude to joint military discussions, had been for naught — the President determined not to be snared by Churchill into a position that isolationists back in the U.S. could interpret as having even the semblance of an alliance.


Once aboard the USS Augusta the President then held “a military & naval conference in my cabin”92 — adamant to ensure that no hint of a military alliance was being suggested, or any whisper of U.S. “war plans” being given to emissaries of a foreign country. His chiefs of staff still seemed bewildered by his tactics, but were too loyal to protest.




 





Despite the President’s ban on joint discussions among the chiefs, however, it was impossible to stop junior staff officers from confiding in one another. At a junior meeting with Colonel Harvey Bundy, General Marshall’s director of plans, for example, Colonel Jacob, Churchill’s military assistant, learned to his consternation just how different were British and American ideas for conducting the war against Germany.


Some weeks previously, it appeared, the President had ordered a secret new review to be drawn up — later called the Victory Plan — of what the U.S. Army and Navy Departments would deem necessary in a war to defeat the Third Reich. A preliminary report had been presented to the President before he’d left Washington, and Colonel Bundy now unwisely shared the gist of it with his counterpart — who was both amazed and disbelieving. “The Americans are busy trying to draw up a scheme of the forces which they would ultimately raise, and the possible theatres in which they might be utilised. They are tentatively aiming at an Army of 4 million men.”


Colonel Jacob was shocked. Four million men? “We did our best to point out to Bundy that this was possibly a wasteful use of manpower and manufacturing capacity; it hardly seemed conceivable that large scale land fighting could take place on the Continent of America, and shipping limitations would make it quite impossible for large forces to be transferred quickly to other theatres.”93


Colonel Charles Lindbergh, one of the leaders of the America First isolationist movement, would have been appalled to know that such secret discussions regarding possible American “intervention” in “other theaters” were being aired; he would have been even more appalled to discover the sheer magnitude of the army the U.S. military was proposing in order to win the war against Germany. Colonel Jacob certainly was — for the American notion of defeating Hitler was almost diametrically opposed to that of the British.


“The day has been almost entirely wasted from the point of view of joint discussion,” Jacob lamented in his diary. “We have been here two days and have not yet succeeded in getting the opposite sets of Chiefs of Staff together round a table,” he recorded in frustration — unaware that this was happening on the President’s specific orders. “We have thus given away the strength of our position, which lies in the fact that our three Chiefs of Staff present a unified front of the strategical questions, while it is quite clear that theirs do not. We have played into their hands by allowing the discussions to proceed in separate compartments.”94


The President’s stratagem worked magnificently — the British were unable to present their “Future Strategy Paper,” while their U.S. hosts remained wholly uncommitted either to enter the war, or to follow “unified” British strategic military policy: a policy that assumed there would be no major ground forces landed on the continent of Europe, and that Hitler could merely be forced into submission by peripheral harassment and aerial bombing — if only the United States provided enough bombers. (The RAF’s request, Arnold learned from his opposite number, Air Vice Marshal Freeman, was for ten thousand heavy bombers — the entire output of the U.S.)95


As Colonel Jacob rued immediately after the conference, “neither the American Navy nor the Army go much on the heavy bomber” — the mainstay of Britain’s only plan to defeat Hitler. Neither the U.S. Navy nor Army “seems to realize the value of a really heavy and sustained aerial offensive on Germany.”96


Given that England had itself successfully survived the world’s most sustained bomber offensive in human history — the Blitz — for an entire year, the notion that Nazi Germany could be defeated by the same tactics in reverse seemed nonsensical to General Marshall and Admiral Stark, the U.S. Army and Navy chiefs of staff — indeed, even to General Arnold, who did believe in an important role for heavy bombers in modern war.97 Yes, heavy bombers could savage an enemy’s manufacturing and supply chain to its armies. Even Arnold could not visualize, however, the war against Hitler being won by bombers …


Thanks to the President’s injunction against a formal meeting between the two nations’ joint chiefs of staff, however, the difference between British and American military strategy in conducting a full-scale war against Nazi Germany could, at least, safely be deferred.


Thus, when finally the British chiefs of staff managed to present their hollow-sounding “Future Strategy Paper” on Monday, August 11, the day the Prince of Wales was supposed to depart, all the U.S. chiefs of staff would say was that they would study the paper “with interest,” and respond later.98 For the only matter the President was determined to nail down was his declaration of principles.




 





Once the Cadogan draft of the declaration was handed over to the American team, Sumner Welles and the President took over.


Together with Harry Hopkins, Welles was perhaps the President’s most trusted senior adviser. He “looks exactly as if he had stepped out of a film,” Jacob felt — the sort of film in which Welles would probably be playing “a business lawyer.”99


The comparison was apposite, for Welles was indeed acting the business lawyer in world politics. In the quiet of the President’s cabin, he and Roosevelt got down to the business of war and peace: pens poised as they went over the preliminary draft of what would become the Atlantic Charter.


“I am very doubtful about the utility of attempts to plan the peace before we have won the war,” the Prime Minister had confided his fundamental unwillingness to his foreign secretary, Anthony Eden, in May 1941100 — but given that it was what the President requested, Churchill had not dared refuse. In its contorted language the first draft reflected the Prime Minister’s reluctance to draw up a charter at all, and his attempt to twist it, if he could, into a declaration of war. The preamble had thus opened by claiming that the U.S. president and the British prime minister were meeting at Placentia “to concert and resolve the means of providing for the safety of their respective countries in face of Nazi and German aggression …”


This, clearly, suggested an alliance — which was the last thing the President wanted American isolationists to infer. With Sumner Welles at his side, Roosevelt went through the document with the utmost care, taking out anything that could provide free ammunition to his opponents in America — isolationists waiting all too keenly to pounce on the President for any sign he had entered into an unconstitutional agreement with Great Britain and its colonial empire. By evening the American draft two was ready to be given to Churchill — who had gone ashore for a couple of hours to clear his head, but was due to come over to the USS Augusta at 7:00 p.m.


The previous night “Churchill had talked without interruption, except for questions,” Elliott Roosevelt recalled101 — the Prime Minister “talking, talking, talking,” as irascible Admiral King put it.102 “Tonight,” however, as the Prime Minister arrived for his informal, private dinner with the President in the admiral’s cabin of the Augusta, “there were other men’s thoughts being tossed into the kettle, and the kettle correspondingly began to bubble up and — once or twice — nearly over. You sensed that two men accustomed to leadership had sparred, had felt each other out, and were now readying themselves for outright challenge, each of the other.”103


The first bone of contention was the British Empire: its restrictive trade agreements, and its colonialism. “Of course,” the President opened his attack, “of course, after the war, one of the preconditions of any lasting peace will have to be the greatest possible freedom of trade.” Churchill countered by pointing out Britain had long-established trade agreements with its Dominions and colonies. “Yes. Those Empire trade agreements are a case in point,” the President agreed.


“It’s because of them that the people of India and Africa, of all the colonial Near East and Far East, are still as backward as they are.”


Churchill’s face, according to Elliott Roosevelt’s account, went red with fury. “Mr. President, England does not propose for a moment to lose its favored position among the British Dominions. The trade that has made England great shall continue, and under conditions prescribed by England’s ministers.”104


The President’s challenge had been met by Churchill — Roosevelt acknowledging “there is likely to be some disagreement between you, Winston, and me. I am firmly of the belief that if we are to arrive at a stable peace it must involve the development of backward countries. Backward peoples. How can this be done? It can’t be done, obviously, by eighteenth-century methods.”


Churchill, according to Elliott, became even more furious. “Who’s talking eighteenth-century methods?” he snapped.


“Whichever of your ministers recommends a policy which takes wealth in raw materials out of a colonial country, but which returns nothing to the people of that country in consideration,” the President explained patiently. “Twentieth-century methods involve bringing industry to these colonies. Twentieth-century methods include increasing the wealth of a people by increasing their standard of living, by educating them, by bringing them sanitation — by making sure that they get a return for the raw wealth of their community.”105


At the mention of India, Churchill became, Elliott described, “apoplectic.” “Yes,” the President had added blithely, ignoring Churchill’s rage as he piled accusation upon accusation. “I can’t believe that we can fight a war against fascist slavery, and at the same time not work to free people all over the world from a backward colonial policy.”106


Backward colonial policy? This then was the battle royal the Placentia Bay meeting had built up to, and though Churchill — “a real old Tory, isn’t he? A real old Tory, of the old school,” Roosevelt described his opponent to Elliott afterward107 — would give no quarter, the President knew he’d made his point, and had the upper hand, “& now I’m ready for bed after dining Winston Churchill, his civilian aides & mine,” the President finished his account of the day’s doings for Daisy.108


Churchill, by contrast, went to bed with the aching realization that, despite all his oratory, the President of the United States was even less likely to enter into an alliance with Great Britain than when the Prime Minister had set sail from Scapa Flow.




 





The third day, Monday, August 11, 1941, the sparring continued.


“A day of very poor weather but good talks,” the President wrote. “My staff came at 12, lunched, & we worked over joint statement. They went and Churchill returned at 6:30 & we had a delightful dinner of five: H. Hopkins, Elliott, F. Jr., Churchill & myself.”109


Roosevelt was clearly delighted — getting what he wanted by his usual mixture of presidential charm, dogged insistence, occasional compromise, and sincere American hospitality. All day, fresh versions of the declaration of principles sped between the two warships — the President cutting out any implications of military or political alliance, the Prime Minister refusing to relent on “imperial preferences” in postwar trade agreements, and threatening to delay the declaration a further week while he submitted it to the governments of the British Dominions if the President insisted upon that article.


Feeling magnanimous, Roosevelt gave way. The core of his demand had gone unchallenged, after all: that the British government and the U.S. president sought “no territorial” or other “aggrandizement,” in fact no “territorial changes that do not accord with the freely expressed wishes of the people concerned.” The text of the declaration specifically committed the signatories to “respect the right of all peoples to choose the form of government under which they will live”: a postwar peace aim that guaranteed an eventual end to the British colonial system — indeed caused British colonial administrators across the globe to shudder when they read the terms of the Atlantic Charter in the weeks that followed.


In the meantime, however, the President was ecstatic. He had got what he wanted — and not given Churchill what he so dearly hoped for.


For his part, the Prime Minister was resigned to defeat. It was disappointing, but the summit had at least brought the two men together. At dinner on Monday evening harmony finally reigned. “We talked about everything except the war!” the President related to his cousin, “& Churchill said it was the nicest evening he had had!”110


At some deeper level, Churchill was well aware the British Empire was doomed as a colonial enterprise, though he prayed the crumbling of the once-proud imperial edifice that had controlled a quarter of the world would not happen on his watch. Elliott Roosevelt afterward claimed that, at the summit, he saw “very gradually, and very quietly, the mantle of leadership was slipping from British shoulders to American.” He had seen it vividly when, the night before, Churchill got to his feet and “brandished a stubby forefinger under Father’s nose. ‘Mr. President,’” he had cried, “‘I believe you are trying to do away with the British Empire. Every idea you entertain about the structure of the postwar world demonstrates it. But in spite of that’ — and his forefinger waved — ‘in spite of that, we know that you constitute our only hope. And’ — his voice sank dramatically — ‘you know that we know it. You know that we know that without America, the Empire won’t stand.’”111


In sending the final, revised draft of the declaration of principles to the war cabinet in London by secret cipher on the evening of August 11, 1941, Churchill felt ashamed of what he had been forced to concede. With trepidation he therefore went to bed, wondering what the cabinet’s response would be.


“Am I going to like it?” he asked his private secretary, “rather like a small boy about to take medicine,” Colonel Jacob noted in his diary, when the response eventually came in.112




 





The British cabinet did — mercifully for the President.


In actuality, Roosevelt’s hand was much weaker than Winston Churchill had realized. Not only was the United States in no position to wage war on anyone, at that time, but the President’s political position was a great deal less powerful than the Prime Minister knew. Reports of a secret meeting with the leader of a belligerent nation were bound to arouse isolationist ire across America — making American intervention in the war even less likely. News of a joint declaration of principles, by contrast, would not.113 In this sense the President had played a masterly hand.


“W.S.C. to lunch,” the President wrote to Daisy the next day, “with Lord Beaverbrook [Churchill’s minister of munitions], who landed by plane this A.M. at Gander Lake from Scotland.” Churchill had brought with him “approval of statement by his cabinet & King — & after a few minor changes we gave final OKs & drew up the letter to Stalin, & arranged for release dates,” the President chronicled.114


The Atlantic Charter, as it was swiftly called, was a historic document: a declaration in the great tradition of the American Bill of Rights, guaranteeing the rights of all nations — including British colonies — to self-determination, not conquest by rule of force. If the United States were to go to war, it would this time be for a noble cause.


“They left at 3:30, their whole staff having come to say goodbye — It was a very moving scene as they received full honors going over the side,” back to their battle-scarred battleship, the President described to Daisy.115 Then, at 5:00 p.m. that evening, August 12, 1941, after “great activity” getting the battleship ready to weigh anchor, the ill-fated HMS Prince of Wales steamed out of Placentia Bay with salutes given as it passed the ships of the U.S. flotilla — strains of the Royal Marine Band still playing as it headed across the still water.116


In Placentia Bay, meanwhile, the President breathed a sigh of relief. “At 5 p.m. sharp the P. of W. passed out of the harbor, past all our ships,” he described the scene to his cousin. On his desk was the Atlantic Charter. “Ten minutes later we too stood out of the harbor with our escort, homeward bound. So end these four days that I feel have contributed to things we hold dear.”117
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